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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION

SCOTT KLEIN,      ) 
 ) 

Plaintiff,       ) 
 ) 

v.          ) Case No.  
 ) 

KESHET: JEWISH PARENTS OF  ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL NEEDS ) 
and J. CHRISTOPHER RABIN, ) 

) 
Defendants.  ) 

COMPLAINT AT LAW

Plaintiff, SCOTT KLEIN (“Klein” or “Plaintiff”), by and through counsel, 

Patterson Law Firm, LLC, and 1818, complains of Defendants, KESHET: 

JEWISH PARENTS OF CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL NEEDS (“Keshet”) and 

J. CHRISTOPHER RABIN (“Rabin”) (Keshet and Rabin, collectively, 

“Defendants”), as follows: 

Introduction

1. Despite his immeasurable contributions to Keshet and the larger

Jewish community in Chicago through thousands of volunteer hours and 

holding numerous leadership roles at Keshet and other community and 

service organizations, Scott “Shalom” Klein was unlawfully terminated 

from Keshet after being employed for less than two months as Director of 

External Affairs due to anti-military animus and discrimination based on 

his military service and obligations as Lieutenant in the United States 

Army Reserve. 
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2. Keshet’s employees and leadership, including Rabin, spent the 

less than two months of Klein’s employment interrogating Klein and his 

wife about Klein’s military service and when his service obligations would 

require him to be away from his job, demonstrating their fixation on the 

issue and unwillingness to comply with the requirement under federal 

law that military personnel be given leave to perform their duties and not 

be subject to termination on that basis. 

3. The “talking points” that Keshet put in Klein’s personnel file that 

were to be used as notes during his termination continue to refer to the 

military, comparing Klein to a Nazi war criminal, stating, “remind him 

that the defense at Nuremburg was ‘we were just following orders’. That 

wasn’t a good excuse then and it isn’t a good excuse now.” 

4. As if to accentuate the blatant discrimination Klein was subjected 

to in the workplace, following Klein’s termination, Rabin sent him the 

following text message: “Be professional and move on. I’m sure you 

would have learned some ethical principles in the army. Or was that all 

for your resume?”, unequivocally demonstrating the anti-military animus 

and disrespect for our nation’s military personnel held by Rabin. 

5. By unlawfully terminating Klein, Rabin and the Keshet leadership 

and Board of Directors have caused Klein to suffer significant damages, 

including lost wages, loss of benefits, loss of employment, reputational 

harm, and emotional distress. 
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Parties

6. Klein, an individual, is a resident of Skokie, Illinois.  

7. Keshet is a not-for-profit corporation with its principal place of 

business at 600 Academy Drive, Suite 130, Northbrook, Illinois 60062, 

and is incorporated in the state of Illinois. 

8. Rabin, an individual, is a resident, on information and belief, of 

Lincolnshire, Illinois, and is a CPA employed by Sikich LLP in Illinois. 

Rabin is the Chair of the Keshet Board of Directors. 

Jurisdiction and Venue

9. Jurisdiction is appropriate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because 

Plaintiff brings suit under 38 U.S.C. §§ 4301, et seq., the Uniformed 

Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (“USERRA”), and 

pursuant to 38 U.S.C.S. § 4323(b)(3) as an action under 38 U.S.C. 

§§ 4301, et seq., by a person against a private employer.

10. Venue is appropriate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 38 

U.S.C.S. § 4323(c)(2) because Keshet is incorporated and transacts 

business in Illinois, its principal place of business is in the Northern 

District of Illinois, Rabin works and lives in the Northern District of 

Illinois, and a substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s cause 

of action occurred in the Northern District of Illinois.  
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Facts

Keshet: Jewish Parents of Children with Special Needs 

11. Founded in 1982 and currently headquartered in Northbrook, 

Illinois, Keshet is a service organization that provides programs in the 

Chicagoland area and consulting work internationally to help children 

and adults with intellectual challenges. 

12. Keshet’s local leadership is comprised of nearly 100 lay leaders 

from all walks of life that provide the inspiration, direction, and funding 

required to fulfill the organization’s mission: “to do whatever is necessary 

to allow individuals with disabilities to achieve their potential.” 

13. Keshet is overseen by a board of directors (the “Board of 

Directors”), a collection of community leaders that acts as an advisory 

council and is responsible for hiring and supporting the professional staff 

of the organization. Keshet also has a board of trustees (the “Board of 

Trustees”) which oversees the rules and finances of the organization. 

14. Keshet’s professional staff include the Chief Executive Officer 

(“CEO”), Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), and several directors who focus 

on various aspects of organizational management, including the Director 

of External Affairs. 

Klein’s Long-Time Involvement with Keshet 

15. Scott Klein, who from an early age has gone by the name Shalom, 

grew up in what he characterizes as “a very proud Jewish home” in 

Skokie, Illinois – a short drive from Keshet – where Klein’s parents 
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instilled in him the importance of serving one’s community with passion 

and dedication. 

16. From a young age, Klein was involved in planning Jewish 

programs and organizing activities for the community. 

17. In 1997, when Klein was 8 years old, he started volunteering with 

Keshet when his sister, Miriam, was a weekly aide at Sunday school and 

at summer camp, and this marked the beginning of Klein’s decades-long 

involvement with the organization. 

18. Klein identified with Keshet’s mission to provide educational, 

recreational, vocational, and residential services for thousands of 

children and adults with intellectual challenges in the Chicago area, and 

to provide consulting work to promote those same goals internationally.  

19. Since his time volunteering with Keshet at a very young age, Klein 

has spent time in nearly every non-professional leadership position at 

Keshet. 

20. After years of volunteering at Keshet events and day-to-day 

activities with Keshet participants, in 2010, Klein was asked to join the 

Professional Leadership Board (now called the Junior Board Executive 

Committee), which involved organizing events and fundraising for the 

organization.  

21. After several years of exemplary service on the Professional 

Leadership Board, in 2015, Klein was nominated to join the Keshet 

Board of Directors. As a member of the Board of Directors, Klein 
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continued to organize events and fundraise for Keshet, and his 

responsibilities expanded to governance of the organization, more 

extensive networking for fundraising, and raising awareness and support 

for the organization through media appearances and by attending events. 

22. Throughout his decades of volunteering and service in leadership 

roles, Klein took a very hands-on approach with the Keshet participants; 

Klein often visited the summer camps, classes, and other programs put 

on by the organization. Klein regularly participated in events with Keshet 

participants such as Buddy Basketball and other sporting events, 

holiday celebrations, group exercise programs, and concerts. 

23. Below is a photograph of Klein, center, and other Keshet staff 

members taken before a Buddy Basketball event: 

 

24. On countless occasions, Klein has been asked to represent Keshet 

in media, government, and fundraising. Klein regularly attended events 
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and spoke publicly on behalf of Keshet at functions all over the world, 

including trips to Israel and Los Angeles to attend the Jewish Federation 

of North America (“JFNA”) annual General Assembly, travel to Seattle to 

attend the BoardSource Leadership Forum and to New York and 

Washington D.C. for fundraising, providing lectures at local schools and 

universities, and attending dinners hosted by other charitable 

organizations and institutes supportive of Keshet’s mission. 

25. Below is a photograph of Klein, center, and other Keshet staff 

members in Israel for the JFNA General Assembly in 2018: 

26. Klein has brought numerous elected officials for tours at Keshet 

including Governor J.B. Pritzker, Senator Mark Kirk, Congressmembers 

Brad Schneider and Jan Schakowsky, Secretary of State Jesse White, 
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State Comptroller Judy Baar Topinka, State Treasurer Dan Rutherford, 

and numerous other state legislators, aldermen, and other elected 

officials. 

27. On behalf of Keshet, Klein also attended the Board Member 

Institute for Jewish Nonprofits, a three-month comprehensive board 

development training course taught and administered by faculty and 

practitioners from Northwestern University’s Kellogg School of 

Management. 

28. Klein’s dedication to Keshet was honored by the organization at 

its annual banquet in March 2013, at which Keshet presented Klein with 

the Keshet Community Service Award for his “dedicated service to the 

Children and Adults of Keshet.” 

29. Below are photographs of Klein and his wife, Elisheva Klein, with 

Illinois Supreme Court Justice Anne Burke, taken at the March 2013 

banquet at which Klein was honored: 
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30. In August 2017, at the age of only 28, Klein was elected to Chair 

of the Board of Directors. 

31. As Chair of the Board of Directors, Klein worked closely with the 

CEO, who at the time was Abbie Weisberg (“Weisberg”), to implement a 

strategic planning process to improve Keshet’s management and 

governance structures to keep pace with the growing organization. (See 

Aaron Hull, Case Study: Helping a Chicago Social Services Agency, 

MEASURING SUCCESS, Jan. 12, 2018, https://measuring-

success.com/blog/2018/01/12/case-study-helping-a-chicago-social-

services-agency-create-a-plan-for-a-sustainable-future/ (attached as 

Exhibit A).) 

32. The strategic planning process achieved its goal of transforming 

Keshet into a “strategic, forward-thinking” organization “on solid 

financial ground,” and Weisberg “could not [have] be[en] happier with the 

results.” (Id.) 

33. Throughout his 23 years of service in a multitude of volunteer 

and unpaid leadership positions at Keshet, Klein has worked tirelessly on 

behalf of Keshet and its mission. 

34. Klein has been recognized as one of the most active lay leaders in 

Keshet’s history. 

35. Over the course of Klein’s involvement in Keshet, Klein has been 

involved in raising millions of dollars in funds for the organization, 
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including funding of over $50,000 in the fiscal year 2020 Illinois budget 

which Klein secured while away on active duty military service. 

36. Klein has been interviewed and quoted on behalf of Keshet in the 

media on over fifteen occasions, including in print and on television, 

radio, and podcasts. 

37. Klein’s wife, Elisheva Klein, also was heavily involved in Keshet, 

and worked for the organization for eight years as a paraeducator. 

38. Since 2010, Shalom and Elisheva Klein personally have donated 

over $10,000 to Keshet. 

Other Volunteer Service 

39. Klein’s support for his local communities has extended far beyond 

Keshet. 

40. Klein is a strong supporter of the Jewish United Fund (“JUF”) and 

has served on its committees for Communications and Government 

Affairs, he led the Jewish Neighborhood Development Council of Chicago, 

and he is on the Executive Committee of the Jewish War Veterans Post 

29. 

41. Klein also is very actively involved in the Skokie community, 

where he serves as Chair of the Village of Skokie’s Economic 

Development Commission and the COVID Recovery Taskforce, and he is 

on the Executive Committee of the Skokie Caucus Party. 

42. Klein spends time volunteering for numerous other service and 

charitable organizations honoring veterans and first responders 
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including Honor Flight Chicago, Heroes to Hero, the Travis Manion 

Foundation, and Team Rubicon. 

43. Additionally, Klein has regularly served on economic boards and 

panels, including Senator Mark Kirk’s Small Business Advisory Board 

and President Barack Obama’s symposium on job creation. 

Professional Experiences 

44. Klein has a wide variety of experience in business and community 

relations. When he is not busy volunteering, Klein is a business 

consultant, community activist, and entrepreneur. 

45. In December 2009, at the age of 20, Klein left a prominent public 

relations job in New York to return home to Skokie, Illinois, and run the 

family business, Moshe Klein & Associates, Ltd., which handles 

bookkeeping and accounting for small businesses. 

46. To promote his family business, Klein started networking, which 

earned him a budding reputation as a “connector.” Klein soon began 

hosting networking events to bring his clients, family, and friends 

together. 

47. In 2010, Klein founded Jewish B2B Networking, an organization 

designed to help small businesses and job seekers in a struggling 

economy following the financial crisis, which led to the creation of events 

and resources that connected and helped tens of thousands of small 

business, job seekers, and entrepreneurs facing underemployment and 

financial challenges. Klein was personally recognized on the floor of the 
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U.S. House of Representatives for the success of his organization and his 

service to the community. (See 158 CONG. REC. 8544 (2012) (statement of 

Hon. Janice D. Schakowsky) (attached as Exhibit B).) 

48. In 2011, Klein was a semifinalist for JFNA’s nation-wide “Jewish 

Community Hero” award. (See Lubavitchers in Heroes Finals, COLLIVE, 

Nov. 21, 2011, https://collive.com/lubaviSchers-in-heroes-finals/ 

(attached as Exhibit C).) Klein repeatedly has been featured in numerous 

publications for his efforts and work. (See, e.g., Heart of Gold, CHICAGO 

VENTURE MAGAZINE, Aug. 26, 2013, https://chicagoventuremagazine.com-

/2013/08/26/a-heart-of-gold/ (attached as Exhibit D); Daniel I. 

Dorfman, Thousands of Job Seekers Attend ‘The Business Event’, PATCH, 

June 27, 2012, https://patch.com/illinois/skokie/business-event-

draws-hopefuls-from-area (attached as Exhibit E); Mike Isaacs, On the 

Air: Skokie’s Small Business Guru Hosts Radio Show, CHICAGO TRIBUNE, 

June 1, 2015, https://www.chicagotribune.com/suburbs/skokie/ct-skr-

shalom-on-radio-tl-0528-20150601-story.html (attached as Exhibit F).) 

49. In 2012, Klein was the youngest person ever to receive the honor 

of being recognized on OY!Chicago’s “Chicago’s Jewish 36 Under 36 List,” 

which is the Jewish online community’s annual list of “outstanding 

Jewish young adults who make a difference in their professional work, 

volunteering and involvement in our community.” (See 2012 Double Chai 

in the Chai: Shalom Klein, OY!CHICAGO, http://oychicago.com/double-

chai/bio.aspx?id=21487 (attached as Exhibit G).) 
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50. Building off the success of Jewish B2B Networking, Klein founded 

Get Down to Business, where he serves as Principal and Senior 

Consultant. Get Down to Business is an active marketing and external 

affairs consulting practice serving business and organizations nation-

wide to help with their marketing, sales, fundraising, media, and 

government relations. 

51. As part of this business, Klein created a weekly radio show and, 

in 2018, published a book, both of which are also called Get Down to 

Business. 

52. Klein’s book and radio show are designed to provide strategy and 

inspiration for success in business and the workplace. The radio show 

features interviews with a wide variety of leaders and professionals in the 

business community in Chicago and beyond. 

53. On his radio show, Klein frequently discussed Keshet and spoke 

very highly about the organization. Klein has talked about Keshet on his 

radio show on at least 32 occasions, including interviews with six 

different members of staff, and regular interviews with Keshet participant 

and ambassador Avi Lesser to promote Keshet and its work and 

activities. 

54. Below is a photograph of Klein, left, and Avi Lesser when Avi was 

in the studio to record an interview for Klein’s radio show in June 2015: 
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55. In November 2019, Klein was honored as “Jewish Person of the 

Week” by ChiTribe, a Chicagoland Jewish community organization. In his 

published interview, Klein praised Keshet, discussed his military service, 

and stated that his priority is “help[ing] the Chicago Jewish community 

build stronger partnerships with our interfaith brothers and sisters” 

because “the sky is the limit when we come together.” (See Rebecca 

Schwab, Meet Jewish Person of the Week – Shalom Klein, CHITRIBE, Nov. 

1, 2019, https://chitribe.org/2019/11/01/shalomklein/ (attached as 

Exhibit H).) 

56. Klein’s vast professional experiences have made him a valuable 

community growth leader. Klein has been able to better effectuate his 

deep commitment to the economic development of his community by 

utilizing his skills as a strategic thinker and talented marketer, which he 
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has honed by working with dozens of organizations and consulting in 

areas of government affairs, finance, operations, marketing, and 

management. 

Klein’s Military Service 

57. Perhaps epitomizing Klein’s commitment to serving his 

community, at the age of 29 and despite no prior military experience, 

Klein joined the United States Army. Klein took his oath of enlistment on 

December 18, 2018. 

58. After completing Basic Combat Training and Officer Candidate 

School at Fort Benning, Georgia, Klein commissioned as a Lieutenant in 

the United States Army on August 7, 2019. 

59. Following his commission, Klein completed the Military Police 

Basic Officer Leader Course at Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri, and Unit 

Movement Officer Deployment Planning Course, which he completed 

remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

60. Klein also was nominated by his battalion commander and 

chaplain to become a Distinctive Religious Group Leader, for which he 

trained through the JWB Jewish Chaplains Council. In this role, Klein 

leads religious services for groups of up to 1,200 servicemembers, and he 

frequently acts as an advisor and confidante to younger cadets. 

61. Klein served active duty through February 10, 2020. Since then, 

Klein has served as a Military Police Officer with a Reserve unit in 

Arlington Heights, Illinois. 
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62. Klein serves as a platoon leader and is responsible for leading 

over 50 servicemembers. 

63. Klein’s Army Reserve commitments involve reporting to his unit in 

Arlington Heights one weekend per month for training and drills, and 

participating in an annual two-week training course. 

64. Klein’s service also presents the possibility of being called for duty 

for longer periods, which would require extended absences from his 

civilian work and life. 

65. Klein is the Chair of Employer Outreach for the United States 

Department of Defense’s Employer Support of the Guard and Reserve 

program in Illinois, which ensures companies follow USERRA and 

understand the benefits servicemembers bring to the workplace. 

66. Additionally, Klein uses his experience as a radio host to honor 

and promote the military and veterans. Every episode of his show Get 

Down to Business features a segment with either a military support 

organizer or a veteran-owned business. Klein also recently started a 

podcast called #WeAllServe, which focuses on the leadership lessons 

learned by veterans that apply to their respective workplaces. 

Keshet Hires Klein as Director of External Affairs 

67. After proving his dedication to Keshet through years of service to 

the organization in numerous lay leadership roles, Klein was offered a 

position on the professional staff as of Director of External Affairs. 
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68. Klein was offered and accepted the job on February 21, 2019, by 

way of correspondence from Weisberg, Keshet’s CEO, who would become 

Klein’s direct supervisor. (See Offer of Employment Letter, attached as 

Exhibit I.) 

69. As Director of External Affairs, Klein was expected to oversee “a 

variety of functions in the organization such as media, fundraising, 

marketing and communications, public relations, advocacy, outreach 

and government relations . . . to strengthen and promote Keshet’s public 

image and advance [its] financial sustainability.” (Id.) 

70. Weisberg offered Klein a starting annual salary of $130,000. (Id.) 

71. Although Klein initially was given an estimated start date of 

November 2019, the commencement of Klein’s employment was delayed 

because of his active duty service that extended through February 10, 

2020. 

72. To eliminate any potential conflict of interest, before starting in 

his role as Director of External Affairs, Klein resigned his position as 

Chair of the Board of Directors at the board meeting in December 2018. 

73. Klein’s first day on the job was February 17, 2020. 

74. Shortly after Klein began as Director of External Affairs, his hiring 

was publicized in the April 2020 edition of JUF News (see Yasher Ko’ach, 

JUF NEWS, Apr. 2020, at 17 (attached as Exhibit J)) and in the “People on 

the Move” section of the March 9, 2020, edition of Crain’s Chicago 

Business, which referred to Klein’s position as an “integral leadership 
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role” and promoted his prior service as Chair of the Board of Directors 

(see People on the Move, CRAIN’S CHICAGO BUSINESS, Mar. 9, 2020, 

https://www.chicagobusiness.com/people-on-the-move/shalom-klein) 

(attached as Exhibit K)).  

Anti-Military Animus and Discrimination 

75. Unfortunately, Keshet leadership immediately demonstrated anti-

military animus and took discriminatory actions against Klein for his 

military service. 

76. Beginning even before Klein’s official start date as Director of 

External Affairs, both Klein and his wife repeatedly faced intensive 

questioning about Klein’s military service and obligations. 

77. On or about February 14, 2020, the Vice President for Donor 

Relations, Dave Gendel (“Gendel”), and the CFO, Michelle Ebner 

(“Ebner”), met with Klein and repeatedly asked him if he would be 

regularly activated for Army duties. 

78. In that meeting, Klein informed Gendel and Ebner of his drill 

commitments – which was more than Klein was legally obligated to do – 

and Klein informed them he would give his schedule to Keshet’s Human 

Resources Department. 

79. Ebner had previously expressed frustration with the inability to 

reach Klein during his active duty service stating, “That’s just crazy.  You 

can’t get emails??!?” 
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80. On or about February 24, 2020, during a meeting with Michael 

Kelber (“Kelber”), a member of the Board of Directors, Kelber brought up 

Klein’s military service and asked whether Klein expected to be called to 

duty. 

81. On or about February 27, 2020, Rabin, the Chair of the Board of 

Directors who succeeded Klein in that role, called Klein and asked him 

about his ongoing involvement with the military, even though, by this 

point, Klein had already repeatedly been questioned by Keshet staff and 

members of the Board of Directors concerning his military obligations.  

82. In only the first couple weeks on the job, Klein had been 

questioned about his military service on multiple occasions, including by 

the Chair of the Board of Directors, demonstrating serious concern and 

reservations by Keshet leadership about having a servicemember with 

Klein’s military obligations in Klein’s role, as his obligations could take 

him away from Keshet for unplanned periods of time depending on 

military need. 

83. Moreover, on multiple occasions dating back to before Klein’s 

start date, Keshet leadership went so far as to enter Elisheva Klein’s 

classroom to ask about her husband’s military commitments and 

likelihood of deployment. 

Klein’s Termination from Keshet 

84. The actions by Keshet leadership culminated in the Board of 

Directors’ decision to terminate Klein effective April 20, 2020, the same 
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day Klein was informed of the decision during a teleconference meeting 

with Ebner and Jennifer Phillips (“Phillips”), the Acting CEO. 

85. At that point, Phillips had been Acting CEO for mere hours, as 

Weisberg had been terminated as CEO by the Board of Directors that 

same day, just before Klein’s teleconference meeting. 

86. The termination sequence demonstrates that the Board of 

Directors, and Rabin specifically as its Chair, held and exercised the 

performance of employment-related duties regarding Klein. 

87. The decision to terminate Klein was confirmed by a letter from 

Ebner provided that same day. (See Termination Letter, attached as 

Exhibit L.) Klein was instructed to place all Keshet property in his 

possession outside his home to be collected at 5:00 p.m., mere hours 

after receiving notice of losing his job. (Id.) 

88. No specific reason was given for Klein’s termination in either his 

termination letter or the virtual meeting informing him of his 

termination. Klein was told during the teleconference only vaguely that 

Keshet would be “going in a different direction.” 

89. Klein had served in his role as Director of External Affairs for only 

less than 60 days, more than half of which was during the COVID-19 

pandemic, during which time all professional staff worked from home, 

and Keshet had been closed for one of those weeks in observance of 

Passover. 
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90. Even during that short period of time by which to evaluate Klein’s 

job performance, all evidence indicates that Klein performed excellently 

in his role. 

91. During his time as Director of External Affairs, Klein was involved 

in leading the fundraising efforts for Keshet’s annual banquet to be held 

in March 2020, which involved spearheading recruitment efforts and 

acting as the staff liaison. Klein met with honorees Michael and Susan 

Lorge on a daily basis to ensure solicitation success, which involved 

workdays of over twelve hours per day, every day of the week, leading up 

to the banquet. 

92. Klein achieved considerable success in his work for the annual 

banquet. His fundraising efforts secured tens of thousands of dollars 

from many new and returning donors. 

93. Klein arranged for the attendance of many elected officials at the 

banquet, including Mayor Lori Lightfoot, Senators Richard Durbin and 

Tammy Duckworth, and numerous other federal and state legislators 

and other elected officials. Additionally, Klein secured resolutions in 

support of Keshet from the Illinois State Senate and House of 

Representatives, Cook County Government, the Metropolitan Water 

Reclamation District, the Village of Skokie, and Niles Township 

Government. 

94. The Keshet leadership was fully aware of Klein’s efforts and 

production at work; Klein communicated his daily work activities to 
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Weisberg and Gendel, which included fundraising from both 

longstanding relationships and new donors, and he logged his work in 

Keshet’s electronic management system. 

95. Klein’s professional colleagues, including Weisberg and Gendel, 

consistently praised him, both in-person and via email, about the 

fantastic job he was doing and the energy he brought to the role. 

96. Weisberg, Klein’s supervisor, often told Klein of the great job he 

was accomplishing and that he was the “best hire” she had ever made. 

Gendel once commented to Klein that he was “made for this work and [is] 

crushing it.” 

97. Klein never received, witnessed, or heard about any negative 

feedback or warning concerning his job performance from Weisberg or 

any other member of Keshet leadership, and nothing Klein saw, heard, or 

experienced gave him any reason to believe that any member of Keshet 

leadership felt he was not performing adequately. 

98. To the contrary, Klein consistently received positive feedback 

about his job performance, and did so as recently as the same morning 

he was informed of his termination. 

99. All evidence indicates that Klein’s termination was not related to 

his job performance. 

100. Additionally, in his time as Director of External Affairs, Klein 

did not experience any other employment issues that could reasonably 

justify his termination. 
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101. Three days after Klein’s termination, on or about April 23, 

2020, as further confirmation of the anti-military animus held by the 

Keshet leadership, Rabin sent Klein a text message which read: “Be 

professional and move on. I’m sure you would have learned some ethical 

principles in the army. Or was that all for your resume?” 

102. The most outspoken supporter of Klein’s military service 

among the Keshet leadership – Weisberg, who wished Klein “much luck” 

in the Army in his offer of employment letter (see Exhibit I) – suffered the 

same fate as Klein when she was fired the very same day. 

Reaction to and Impact of Klein’s Termination 

103. Members of the local community were shocked and 

disappointed over Klein’s termination from his position as Director of 

External Affairs. 

104. For example, Susan and Michael Lorge (“the Lorges”), Keshet 

donors who are heavily involved in the organization and were to be 

bestowed an honor at the annual banquet in March 2020, provided their 

reaction to Klein’s termination in a letter to Gendel, dated April 24, 2020. 

(See Letter by Susan and Michael Lorge, attached as Exhibit M.) 

105. In their letter, the Lorges described Klein as a “revered 

leader[ ]” and “admired throughout the community,” and they found his 

dismissal to be “shameful.” (Id.) 

106. The Lorges also recognized that Klein was “the key staff 

member” who regularly met with them and, based on his stellar 
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reputation, made dozens of successful telephone calls to secure 

donations and reservations for the annual banquet. (Id.) 

107. Many of those same individuals who Klein contacted for 

donations spoke with the Lorges about Klein’s termination, and the 

Lorges were “embarrassed to be unable to offer a plausible explanation” 

for Klein’s sudden dismissal. (Id.) 

108. Many other donors have been disturbed by Klein’s removal 

and have contacted Keshet out of concern and dismay, some of whom 

have even asked for their donations to be returned and to be refunded for 

the tickets they purchased to the fundraiser Klein had been coordinating. 

109. Klein’s termination had an adverse impact on Keshet given 

Klein’s excellent performance and strong relationship with its donors. 

110. Klein’s termination was due to Keshet leadership and Board of 

Directors’ concern about the effect that Klein’s military service would 

have upon Keshet, as well as the leadership’s distaste and discomfort for 

needing to accommodate Klein’s military obligations as required by law, 

as evidenced by the repeated inquiries into his service obligations and as 

confirmed by Rabin’s post-termination text message. 

111. By terminating Klein’s employment on or about April 20, 

2020, the leadership and Board of Directors have left Klein unemployed 

during a global pandemic and record-setting economic downturn. 

112. Not only was Klein terminated from a job for which he had 

spent decades preparing, but he had planned on this specific opportunity 
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for nearly a full year while on active duty, and he forewent other 

opportunities based on the position he had accepted at Keshet. 

113. The inquiries and comments about Klein’s military service, 

made both to Klein as well as to his wife, and as confirmed by Rabin’s 

text message to Klein referencing his military service, demonstrate that 

Klein’s military duties were a motivating factor in his termination and 

illustrate the animus against the military held by Keshet leadership and 

the Board of Directors. 

114. Following his termination, Klein has requested that Keshet 

engage in reforms to ensure that the organization complies with 

USERRA, but the organization has refused to commit to any such 

changes. 

Count I – Violation of Section 4311 of the Uniformed Services
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (38 U.S.C.S. § 4311)

 
115. Klein realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations 

contained in paragraphs 1 through 114 as if stated verbatim herein. 

116. At all times relevant to this complaint, Klein was an officer 

and member of the United States Army Reserves. 

117. The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment 

Rights Act of 1994 (“USERRA”) was enacted to “prohibit discrimination 

against persons because of their service in the in the uniformed 

services.” 38 U.S.C.S. § 4301(a)(3). 

118. In furtherance of that goal, USERRA forbids an employer from 

denying “initial employment, reemployment, retention in employment, 
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promotion, or any benefit of employment” to any individual based on that 

individual’s “membership” or “obligation to perform service in a 

uniformed service.” 38 U.S.C.S. § 4311(a). 

119. USERRA provides that an employer has violated the 

prohibitions set forth in subsection (a) of 38 U.S.C.S. § 4311 if the 

individual’s membership or obligation to perform service in a uniformed 

service was “a motivating factor in the employer’s action.” 38 U.S.C.S. 

§ 4311(c)(1). 

120. Further, an employer many not require an employee “to ask 

for or get his or her employer's permission to leave to perform service in 

the uniformed services” (20 C.F.R. § 1002.87), nor is the employee 

“required to accommodate his or her employer's interests or concerns 

regarding the timing, frequency, or duration of uniformed service.” (20 

C.F.R. § 1002.104). 

121. Rabin and Keshet are both employers under USERRA. 

122. As Chair of the Board of Directors, Rabin directly participated 

in the decision to terminate Klein, Rabin had control over employment 

opportunities at Keshet in his individual capacity as Chair of the Board 

of Directors, and Rabin’s action of terminating Klein’s employment was 

done on behalf of Keshet and within the scope of his authority as Chair 

of the Board of Directors. 

123. Although Keshet was aware of Klein’s service when Klein was 

hired, this hiring was under different Keshet leadership, as Weisberg was 
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CEO at the time of hiring, and the process to hire Klein began before 

Rabin became Chair of the Board of Directors. 

124. Only following Rabin’s ascension to the position of Chair of 

the Board of Directors did the inquiries concerning Klein’s military 

service and obligations begin. 

125. Keshet and Rabin relied upon, took into account, considered, 

or conditioned the decision to terminate Klein based on his military 

service. 

126. Direct and circumstantial evidence exists to establish the 

discriminatory motivation or intent under USERRA of Rabin and the 

leadership and Board of Directors of Keshet in terminating Klein’s 

employment as Director of External Affairs. 

127. The statements, questions, and comments made to Klein and 

his wife between February and April 2020 about Klein’s military service 

and corresponding obligations demonstrate that Klein’s military service 

was a motivating factor in the decision made by Rabin and the leadership 

and Board of Directors of Keshet, as confirmed by the text message sent 

by Rabin explicitly mentioning Klein’s military service. 

128. Defendants’ actions were willful, thereby entitling Klein to 

liquidated damages pursuant to 38 U.S.C.S. § 4323(d)(1)(C). 

129. As a result of the actions taken by Rabin and Keshet’s 

leadership and Board of Directors, Klein has suffered lost wages, loss of 

benefits, loss of employment, reputational harm, and emotional distress. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, SCOTT KLEIN, respectfully prays that this 

Court enter judgment in his favor and against Defendants, KESHET: 

JEWISH PARENTS OF CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL NEEDS and J. 

CHRISTOPHER RABIN; order Defendants to comply with the provisions 

of 38 U.S.C.S. §§ 4301, et seq.; and award Plaintiff compensation for all 

lost wages and benefits to which Plaintiff is entitled pursuant to 38 

U.S.C.S. § 4323(d)(1)(B), all liquidated damages to which Plaintiff is 

entitled pursuant to 38 U.S.C.S. § 4323(d)(1)(C), all attorney’s fees, costs, 

and other litigation expenses to which Plaintiff is entitled pursuant to 38 

U.S.C.S. § 4323(h)(2), and any such other relief this Court deems just 

and appropriate. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all issues so triable. 

 

 
 
Dated: August 5, 2020 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
/s/ Michael D. Haeberle 
Kristi L. Browne (6195553) 
Michael D. Haeberle (6309164) 
Jack A. Battaglia (6318222) 
The Patterson Law Firm, LLC 
200 W. Monroe St., Ste. 2025 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
Tel.  312-223-1699 
Fax. 312-223-8549 
kbrowne@pattersonlawfirm.com 
mhaeberle@pattersonlawfirm.com 
jbattaglia@pattersonlawfirm.com 
 
Jordan Matyas (6283478) 
1818 – An Advocacy Group 
20 W. Kinzie, 17th Floor 
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Chicago, IL 60654 
(312) 968-9600 
jordan@1818advocacy.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff  
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The Sandy and Glenda Mason 
Administrative Offices 

600 Academy Drive, Suite 130 
Northbrook, IL 60062 

 
Phone: (847) 205-1234 

Fax:  (847) 480-9120 
Email:  admin@keshet.org 

Web:  www.keshet.org 
 
 
 
 

 
The Robert and Debra Hartman Keshet International Center 

 

Serving thousands of families in Chicago and around the globe 
 

Education • Recreation • Vocational • Social • Residential • Consulting • Training 

February 21, 2019 
 
 
 
Dear Shalom, 
On behalf of the Keshet Organization, it is my intent to offer you a position on our administrative team as the Director of 
External Affairs.  While we work out the details of your job description, it is with great enthusiasm that you will join our 
team and bring your passion to make a difference in the lives of our children and young adults of Keshet. 
This role will cover a variety of functions in the organization such as media, fundraising, marketing and communications, 
public relations, advocacy, outreach and government relations.  The impact of this position will be to strengthen and 
promote Keshet’s public image and advance our financial sustainability.   I know you will be a huge asset to our 
Organization and while I wish you much luck in the Army, please hurry home! 
Your starting salary will be $130,000 all-in prorated for a start date around November 2019.  At this time, you have not 
requested medical benefits. Should you decide you need it later, we will adjust your salary down to offset the Keshet cost 
for that benefit. You will be eligible for the Keshet 401K retirement contribution after you complete a year of service. 
Our intention is to build your salary into the budget for fiscal 2020 and obtain approval from the board at the May budget 
board meeting. We anticipate no issues but will keep you apprised should something change. 
Again, I look forward to working with you as a member of our Keshet team. I know it will be both positive and rewarding 
for the entire organization. 
 
 
_____________________                                                     _____________________ 
Abbie Weisberg                                                                       Shalom Klein 
Attached: job description 
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The Sandy and Glenda Mason 
Administrative Offices 

600 Academy Drive, Suite 130 
Northbrook, IL 60062 

 
Phone: (847) 205-1234 

Fax:  (847) 480-9120 
Email:  admin@keshet.org 

Web:  www.keshet.org 
 
 
 
 

 
The Robert and Debra Hartman Keshet International Center 

 

Serving thousands of families in Chicago and around the globe 
 

Education • Recreation • Vocational • Social • Residential • Consulting • Training 
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17JUF News, April 2020

UOTEWORTHY

Critical Conversations
Spertus Institute for Jewish Learning and Leadership presented the program 
“Critical Conversations: Responses to Climate Change” in February. Panelists 
(pictured from left) included Kevin Green (Center for Behavior & The Environment), 
Katherine Milkman (behavioral economist), and David Wallace Wells (climate 
columnist). The Critical Conversations series, held annually, brings together high-profile 
speakers—often with considerably different points of view—to address the most critical 
issues of the day.

Shalom Klein has been appointed to the 
newly created position of 
of External Affairs. Klein has a leadership 
portfolio of corporate, association, and 
consulting expertise paired with extensive 
nonprofit board experience. He is a recipient 

Board of Directors. 

Rena Singer will become the next Temple 
Sholom Assistant Rabbi on July 1. 
Singer, who will be ordained in May by the 
Hebrew Union College - Jewish Institute 
of Religion, co-created Modern Ritual, 
an online resource that makes Judaism 
accessible to Jewish young adults. 
“Despite millennial stereotypes,” she said, 
“I am convinced that people still crave 
spiritual depth and connection.”

Nanci Dobkin (right), Chairperson 
of Response Advisory Council 
celebrates with honorees, Dr. Marc 
and Barbara Slutsky, at Tuned 
In; The Larry Dobkin Event, a 
fundraiser for Response for Teens, 
a program of JCFS Chicago.

"I have this great t-shirt somebody sent me that says, 

‘I may not be perfect, 
but parts of me are excellent.’

Fred would laugh at his mistakes, but we often don’t do that. 
We get frustrated...[but] it’s so important to remember that 

I may not be perfect but parts of me are excellent."

Hedda Sharapan (pictured), longtime Mister Rogers’ Neighborhood producer, who spoke 
this winter at JUF’s Annual Agency Board Member and Nonprofit Professionals Dinner.

YASHER KO'ACH!

Photo credit: Dogs & Not Dogs Photography

NOTED
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Keshet, Northbrook

Keshet recently named 
Shalom Klein as 
Director of External 
Affairs. In this integral 
leadership role, 
Klein will be working 
to advance both 
longstanding and new initiatives 
as the 36-year-old organization 
looks ahead in expanding 
opportunities for the thousands 
of children and adults that Keshet 
provides educational, recreational, 
vocational and residential services 
for. He previously served as Chair of 
Keshet’s Board of Directors.
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SSusie & Michael M. Lorge 
8939 Karlov Avenue 
Skokie, Illinois 60076 

 
          
         April 24, 2020 
 
Dear Dave; 
 
I know that you tried to reach us over the past 10 days and Susie and I have called you 
back several times.  We just cannot wait any longer to express ourselves concerning 
the recent and very abrupt change of leadership at Keshet which we assume was the 
reason for your telephone call. 
 
As you know and frankly as part of the reason that Keshet chose to honor us recently, 
we are involved in many organizations both within the Jewish community and the 
broader community.  In such roles we have often been involved in changes of 
leadership of organizations.  In addition, I have been called upon by over 125 
congregations and clergy throughout the Chicago area and the country to negotiate 
clergy contracts.  Governance of an organization which blends professional staff with 
lay leadership is a powerful tool in achieving community missions when it occurs in a 
collaborative relationship.  Evidence of such relationships are found in harmonious, joint 
decision making and long-term professional staff tenure.  Why else would successive 
lay leaders retain professional staff over various administrations unless they found the 
professional staff to be thoughtful and effective? 
 
This does not mean that for some reasons, from time to time, professional staff is not 
refreshed.  However, the shockingly abrupt method by which Abbie and Shalom were 
dismissed in recent days reflects poorly on the Keshet lay leadership.  Not only was it 
accomplished only a few weeks from the Keshet Dinner, but in the midst of these trying 
times of COVID-19 making it impossible for the community to respond in personal and 
appropriate manners to the ousted staff.   
 
Simply put, I cannot think of a single reason to so harshly dismiss professional staff of 
long standing and quite frankly, two individuals who are admired throughout the 
community, unless there was an act of malfeasance, moral turpitude or worse. If this is 
the case, it should be stated.  Otherwise, this action smacks of a personality conflict 
rather than reasoned leadership and it causes consternation within the Chicago Jewish 
community.  Further, to dismiss this revered leadership, Abbie in particular who frankly 
is in a health battle, without giving time for transition and without publicly and loudly 
honoring them is shameful.  No lay leader summarily dismisses leadership in a 
wholesale manner without offering either honor or an explanation. 
 
 

Case: 1:20-cv-04601 Document #: 1 Filed: 08/05/20 Page 78 of 79 PageID #:78



We have received calls from many folks who were the very people we called upon to 
donate to the Dinner in recent months and we are embarrassed to be unable to offer a 
plausible explanation for the sudden dismissal of Abbie and Shalom.  This is especially 
true because Shalom was the key staff member who met with us almost daily as we 
approached the Dinner.  Shalom made dozens of calls for us to many of our potential 
guests to obtain their gifts and reservations.  Susie and I could identify people for 
Shalom to call, knowing that based on his reputation and Abbie’s reputation our friends 
would respond to them. 
 
We are deeply disappointed with Keshet’s lay leadership if it considers its actions fair, 
wise or productive. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 Susie and Michael M. Lorge 
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